
 
 

 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 Plaintiff,  

 

vs.         CASE NO.: 21-CR-128 (APM) 

 

CONNIE MEGGS 

 Defendant.  

______________________________/    

 

DEFENDANT’S RENEWED REQUEST FOR PRETRIAL RELEASE AND 

INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 

COMES NOW the defendant, CONNIE MEGGS, by and through undersigned counsel and 

files this Renewed Request for Pretrial Release and as grounds in support of this request states: 

1. Mrs. Meggs is charged by superseding indictment with several offenses related to 

crimes allegedly committed at the U.S. Capitol in Washington, D.C, on Wednesday, Jan. 6, 2021.  

These offenses include conspiracy against the United States government in violation of Title 18 

U.S.C. § 371; Destruction of Government Property in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1361; 

Obstruction of an Official Proceeding in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(2) and Entering 

and Remaining in a Restricted Building or Grounds Access in contravention of Title 18 U.S.C. § 

1752(a)(1).  (See First Superseding Indictment) 

2. Mrs. Meggs was taken into custody on February 17th, 2021  in the Middle District 

of Florida, which is the federal judicial district in which she resides. 

3. She is a fifty-nine-year-old resident of Marion County, Florida having resided in 

the City of Dunellon for at least the past twelve years. 

4. The home in which she lives is owned by both herself and her spouse and is one in 

which they have significant financial equity.  It should be noted that Mrs. Meggs’ spouse, Kelly 
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Meggs, is also named as a defendant in the instant prosecution. 

5. Mrs. Meggs is a housewife who volunteers at a church-run thrift shop when she is 

not caring for her two minor grandchildren to assist the children’s mother. 

6. She has no other pending criminal cases in any jurisdiction and no prior criminal 

history. 

7. With respect to the allegations against her in the instant superseding indictment and 

despite the inflammatory language therein, there are no direct acts of violence alleged to have been 

committed by her, nor are there any social media or other communications regarding the January 

6th incident attributed to her.  Moreover, while she is alleged to have “prepared herself for battle” 

by donning certain protective attire, there is no allegation she possessed any type of weapon. 

8. As the court is aware, Ms. Meggs and her spouse previously moved for pre-trial 

release in the district where they reside and were initially taken into custody.  The court there 

denied her release by written Order, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A.” 

9. On March 2nd, 2021 both Mr. Meggs and Mrs. Meggs were removed from the 

Marion County Jail in Ocala, Florida and transferred to separate jails in the Orlando, Florida area. 

10. On Thursday, March 4th, 2021 they were each removed from these facilities for 

further transport, however, when Mrs. Meggs was taken to the Jacksonville International Airport, 

she was denied boarding of the aircraft because she was wearing her wedding ring, which 

apparently cannot be removed past the knuckle on her ring finger.  She was then taken back to the 

jail in Orlando, Florida where the officials there refused to cut the ring from her finger.  To this 

day she remains languishing in that facility. 

11. Mr. Meggs, on the other hand, was transported without incident to Grady County, 

Case 1:21-cr-00028-APM   Document 67   Filed 03/09/21   Page 2 of 8



 
 

Oklahoma and then the Washington, D.C. area where he is awaiting his first court appearance. 

12. Because Mrs. Meggs cannot be transported while wearing the wedding ring which 

she cannot herself remove, nor will the jail, it appears there is no definitive time frame within 

which she can appear before this Court should she remain in custody.           

13. Despite disagreement with the findings of the magistrate judge in the Middle 

District of Florida, those findings are acknowledged.  However, it was not then anticipated that 

Mrs. Meggs would be indefinitely held in that district due to circumstances over which she has no 

control.  She is in limbo, deprived of her liberty and unable to even appear before the Court to start 

preparing a defense to the charges against her, which she is anxious to do. 

14. Based on the circumstances that have developed since her initial detention hearing 

and the uncertainty as to when she will be transported to the district in which she stands charged, 

it is respectfully requested that she be granted pre-trial release on terms and conditions to which 

the Court may be amenable which would insure her appearance at all required court proceedings 

and protect the community from whatever danger the Court believes she may pose. 

15. Should she be released on bail, she is prepared to appear either via video conference 

or personally at her own expense in the District of Columbia as the Court may require.  

CONCLUSION 

 Based on the above facts and subsequent legal analysis, Mrs. Meggs respectfully requests 

this court grant this request for pre-trial release and impose upon her any combination of conditions 

sufficient to satisfy the court that any perceived risk of non-appearance she may pose would be 

substantially mitigated and any danger to the community eliminated. 
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MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

“In our society liberty is the norm, and detention prior to trial or without trial is the carefully 

limited exception.”  United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739 (1987).   

  The federal bail reform provisions, found in 18 U.S.C. § 3142 of the Bail Reform Act, (the 

“Act”) provide the court with four options for setting bail matters before it. These options are: 

(1) release the defendant on personal recognizance or unsecured bond; 

(2) release the defendant on conditions; 

(3) temporarily detain the defendant to permit revocation of conditional release, 

deportation or exclusion; or 

(4) detain the defendant. 

 

Section 3142(g) of the Act sets forth the factors the judicial officer shall consider in making 

the determination whether to release a person charged with an offense: 

(1) the nature and circumstances of the offense charged; 

 

(2) the weight of the evidence; 

 

(3) the history and characteristics of the person including: 

 

(a) the defendant’s character; 

(b) physical and mental condition; 

(c) family ties; 

(d) employment; 

(e) financial resources; 

(f) length of residence in the community; 

(g) community ties; 

(h) past conduct; 

(i) history relating to drug or alcohol abuse; 

(j) criminal history; 

(k) record of appearance at court proceedings; 

(l) whether at the time of the current offense or arrest the defendant was on 

probation, parole or other release pending trial, sentencing, appeal or completion of a 

sentence; and 

(m) the nature and seriousness of the danger to any person or the community that 

would be posed by the defendant’s release. 

 

Title 18 U.S.C. § 3142(b) mandates pretrial release (“shall order the pretrial release”) on 
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personal recognizance or an unsecured appearance bond unless the court determines that “such 

release will not reasonably assure” the person’s appearance or “will endanger the safety of any 

other person or the community.” The Act emphasizes release on personal recognizance or an 

unsecured appearance bond; however, the court may also consider whether ensuring the safety of 

the community warrants detention. See United States v. Williams, 753 F.2d 329 (4th Cir. 1985); 

United States v. Harris, 732 F. Supp. 1027 (N.D. Cal. 1990).  

 An accused’s ties to the community is one factor that courts look to in evaluating the flight 

risk of a defendant. See 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g)(3)(A).  While the defendant concedes the community 

to which these ties are assessed is the community in which the charges are levied, Mrs. Meggs is 

a long-time resident of Marion County, Florida with significant familial and financial obligations 

there.  These ties clearly demonstrate a stability in life and residence and a family dependent on 

her.   She likewise possesses the resources to appear as required in the judicial district in which 

she is charged.   She is not a flight risk in any way, shape, or form.   

The weight of the evidence against the accused is another factor to be considered at the 

detention hearing, United States v. Apker, 964 F.2d 742 (8th Cir. 1992), but it is the least significant 

factor, United States v. Townsend, 897 F.2d 989 (9th Cir. 1990). In the words of one district court 

judge, to presume risk of flight from strong “evidence” of guilt would be “tantamount to a 

presumption of guilt.” United States v. Gray, 651 F. Supp. 432, 436 (W.D. Ark. 1987). 

Despite the language employed by the government in alleging the facts in the superseding 

indictment, the verbiage reflects nothing more than her donning certain defensively protective 

attire and entering the Capitol building with others.  While the severity of the January 6th incident 

cannot be overstated, Mrs. Meggs is not alleged to have herself engaged in any acts of violence or 
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encouragement of others to do so. 

 The prosecution bears the ultimate burden of establishing that no series of conditions is 

sufficient to negate the risk of the accused’s flight or dangerousness—by a preponderance of the 

evidence in the case of flight and by clear and convincing evidence in the case of dangerousness. 

United States v. English, 929 F.3d 311, 319 (2d Cir. 2011); see also Stone, 608 F.3d at 946; United 

States v. Bell, 209 F. Supp. 3d 275, 277 (D.D.C. 2016) (citing, United States v. Simpkins, 826 F.2d 

94, 96 (D.C. Cir. 1987)); United States v. Rodriguez, 147 F. Supp. 3d 1278, 1286 (D. N.Mex. 

2015); United States v. Guerra-Hernandez, 88 F. Supp. 3d 25, 26 (D.P.R. 2015).  

Clear and convincing evidence means proof that the defendant actually poses a danger to 

the community, not that a defendant “in theory” poses a danger. United States v. Patriarca, 948 

F.2d 789 (1st Cir. 1991). Only when there is a “strong probability that a person will commit 

additional crimes if released” is the community interest in safety sufficiently compelling to 

overcome the criminal defendant’s right to liberty. Ploof, 851 F.2d 7. United States v. Ploof, 851 

F.2d 7 (1st Cir. 1988). Mrs. Meggs has no criminal history and there is zero proof that she engaged 

in any criminal activity prior to or after June 6th, 2021 up to when she was taken into custody on 

February 17th. 

The statute requires that a defendant be detained only if she or he represents a serious risk 

of flight. That is a substantial burden for the government to meet. See United States v. Giordana, 

370 F. Supp. 2d 1256 (S.D. Fla. 2005) (serious charges do not necessarily equal serious flight 

risk).   As stated above, there is virtually zero risk of non-appearance by Mrs. Meggs. 

If the Court determines that personal recognizance or an unsecured bond will not 

reasonably assure appearance or will endanger any other person or the community, 18 U.S.C. § 
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3142(c) still mandates release (“shall order the pretrial release”) subject to certain specified 

conditions. The conditions, which must include that the person shall not violate any federal, state 

or local law, must be the least restrictive conditions necessary to reasonably assure the person’s 

appearance and the community’s safety. The provision that conditions “reasonably assure” 

appearance and safety does not require a guarantee of appearance or safety. See United States v. 

O’Brien, 895 F.2d 810 (1st Cir. 1990); United States v. Fortna, 769 F.2d 243 (5th Cir. 1985), cert. 

denied, 479 U.S. 950 (1986). It requires an “objectively reasonable” assurance of community 

safety and the defendant’s appearance at trial. Id. Imposition of conditions of release must be 

supported by reasons why they are necessary to reasonably assure appearance or safety. United 

States v. Spilotro, 786 F.2d 808 (8th Cir. 1986). 

 Based on an application of the facts presented in this matter to the applicable law, there 

exist several release conditions this Court can impose on Mrs. Meggs sufficient to rebut any 

presumption that she may pose a serious risk of flight or danger to the community and which would 

facilitate her appearance before the Court. 

The undersigned has conferred with Assistant United States Attorney Jeffrey Nestler, Esq., 

who asserts the government’s position as to this motion is that Mrs. Meggs should remain detained.  

 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 

 

                              /s/ David Anthony Wilson    

       DAVID ANTHONY WILSON 

       201 S.W. 2nd Street, Suite 101 

       Ocala, FL 34471 

       (352) 629-4466 

       david@dwilsonlaw.com 

       Trial Attorney for Defendant 

       D.C. Bar ID: FL0073 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

     I HEREBY CERTIFY that on March 9, 2021, I electronically filed the foregoing with 

the Clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system, which will send a notice of electronic filing 

to the following: Office of the United States Attorney.   

                   

 

                              /s/ David Anthony Wilson    

       DAVID ANTHONY WILSON   
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Umrpo Srarps Drsrrucr CoURT
for the

Middle District of Florida

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Case No. 5:21 -mj-l 035-PRL
CONNIE MEGGS

Defendant

ORDER OF DN,TENTION PENDING TRIAL

Part I - Eligibility for Detention

Pending before the Court is Defendant's Oral Motion for Pretrial Release pursuant to 18 U.S.C. S 3142 (Doc. 6). In
light of the Defendant's request, I held a bond hearing on February 22,2021, at which time defendant's counsel made an
argument for the Defendant's release. The Government maintained its position that Defendant should be held in custody
pending trial based on the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. S : t+2.

Upon the

ffi Motion of the Government attomey pursuant ro 18 U.S.C. g 3142(f)(l), or

!MotionoftheGovernmentorCourt'sownmotionpursuantto18U.S.C. S3l42(f)(2),

this order sets forth the Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, as required by 18 U.S.C. $ 3142(i), in addition to
any other findings made at the hearing.

Part II - Findings of Fact and Law as to Presumptions under $ 31a2(e)

n.q.. ReUuttable Presumption Arises Under 18 U.S.C. $ 31a2(e)(2) (previous viotator)i There is a rebuttable
presumption that no condition or combination of conditions will reasonably assure the safety of any other person
and the community because the following conditions have been met:

n (t) ttre defendant is charged with one of the following crimes described in l8 U.S.C. g 31a2(f)(1):

E (u) u crime of violence, a violation of 18 U.S.C. $ 1591, or an offense listed in 18 U.S.C.

$ 2332b(g)(5)(B) for which a maximum term of imprisonment of 10 years or more is prescribed; or
I tUl an offense for which the maximum sentence is life imprisonment or death; or
n (c) an offense for which a maximum term of imprisonment of l0 years or more is prescribed in the

Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. $$ 801-904), the Conholled Substances Import and Export Act
(21 U.S.C. $$ 951-971), or Chapter 705 of Title 46, U.S.C. (46 U.S.C. $$ 70501-70508); or

n tAl any felony ifsuch person has been convicted oftwo or more offenses described in subparagraphs
(a) through (c) of this paragraph, or two or more State or local offenses that would have been offenses
described in subparagraphs (a) through (c) ofthis paragraph ifa circumstance giving rise to Federal
jurisdiction had existed, or a combination of such offenses; or

[ 1e; any felony that is not otherwise a crime of violence but involves:
(i) a minor victim; (ii) the possession of a firearm or destructive device (as defined in 18 U.S.C. g 921);
(iii) any other dangerous weapon; or (iv) a failure to register under 18 U.S.C. I 2250; and

[] 1Z; tfre defendant has previously been convicted of a Federal offense that is described in 18 U.S.C.

$ 3142(0(l), or of a State or local offense that would have been such an offense if a circumstance giving rise
to Federal jurisdiction hadexisted; and

r\ ^ 
li 
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[ 1f) ttre offense described in paragraph (2) above for which the defendant has been convicted was

committed while the defendant was on release pending trial for a Federal, State, or local offense; azd

D (+) u period of not more than five years has elapsed since the date of conviction, or the release of the

defendant liom imprisonment, for the offense described in paragraph (2) above, whichever is later.

[ln. neUuttable Presumption Arises Under 18 U.S.C. $ 31a2(e)(3) (narcotics, firearm, other olfenses;: There is a

rebuttable presumption that no condition or combination of conditions will reasonably utssure the appearance of the

defendant as required and the safety of the community because there is probable cause to believe that the defendant
committed one or more of the following offenses:

[ 1f; an offense for which a maximum term of imprisonment of 10 years or more is prescribed in the

Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. $ $ 801-904), the Controlled Substances Import and Export Act (21

U.S.C. $$ 951-971), or Chapter 705 of Title 46, U.S.C. (46 U.S.C. $$ 70501-70508);

[ 121 an offense under l8 U.S.C. $$ 924(c), 956(a), or 2332b;

ffi 1:; an offense listed in l8 U.S.C. $ 2332b(g)(5)(B) for which a maximum term of imprisonment of l0 years

or more is prescribed;

n (+) * offense under Chapter'77 of Title 18, U.S.C. (18 U.S.C. $$ 1581-1597) for which a maximum term of
imprisonment of 20 years or more is prescribed; or

f](t anoffense involvingaminorvictim under l8 U.S.C. $$ 1201, 1591,2241,2242,2244(a)(l),2245,
))51 ))<1A,2252(a)(l),2252(a)(2),2252(a)(3),22524(a)(I),2252A(z)(2),22524(a)(3),22524(a)(4),
2260, 2421, 2422, 2423, or 2425.

ffiC. Conclusions Regarding Appticability of Any Presumption Established Above

I fle defendant has not introduced sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption above.

* The defendant has not introduced sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption above, but even if he had

^ detention is warranted as addressed below.

I nre defendant has presented evidence sufficient to rebut the presumption, but after considering the

presumption and the other factors discussed below, detention is warranted.

Part III - Analysis and Statement of the Reasons for Detention

After considering the factors set forth in l8 U.S.C. $ 3la2(g) and the information presented at the detention hearing,
the Court concludes that the defendant must be detained pending trial because the Govemment has proven:

ffiBy clear and convincing evidence that no condition or combination of conditions of release will reasonably assure

the safefy of any other person and the community.

I gy u preponderance of evidence that no condition or combination of conditions of release will reasonably assure

the defendant's appearance as required.

In addition to any findings made on the record at the hearing, the reasons for detention include the following:

X Weignt of evidence against the defendant is strong

I Subject to lengthy period of incarceration if convicted

I Prior criminal history

I earticipation in criminal activity while on probation, parole, or supervision

! History of violence or use of weapons

! Uistory ofalcohol or substance abuse
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n Lack of stable employment

I Lack of stable residence

f] Lack of financially responsible sureties

fl Lack of significant community or family ties to this district

f] Significant family or other ties outside the United States

I l-ack of legal status in the United States

I SuUiect to removal or deportation after serving any period of incarceration

fl Prior failure to appear in court as ordered

I erior attempt(s) to evade law enforcement

n Use of alias(es) or false documents

fl Background information unknown or unverified

I erior violations of probation, parole, or supervised release

OTHER REASONS OR FURTHER EXPLANATION:
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X There is a presumption of detention in this case. The conduct is such that someone
who is alleged to have commiffed it is inherently unlikely to appear or not endanger the
community. In other words, given the nature of the alleged conduct they are a risk of flight
and danger to the community. The nature of the offense and the weight of the evidence are

weighed heavily then.

American democrary didn't always exist. It started with a declaration of independence and
a revolutionary war, followed by the articles of confederation. That original founding
document contained one branch of government - a congress. It proved insufficient.
Spurred on, in partby a rebellion, the founders agreed a strongff central government was
necessary. One, ultimately, thatbalanced power within itself between three branches, and
between itself and the states. It created, for example, an electoral college, which would
decide the presideflcy, but left substantial discretion and responsibility to the states
themselves to run the elections.

Cerrification of the winner, in turn, brought together both houses of congress and a
member of the executive branch, the vice-president.

Parts of that process were challenged, fust through the Courts, our third brarlclt, but then
directly, by regular citizens, on January 6. Thx attack wasn't just one on an entire branch
of our government (includrng a member of the executive branch), but it was an attack on
the very foundation of our democrary.

It is often said that we are a nation of laws. They ensure order. They provide for peace -
they provide for peaceful transitions of power. Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit has illustrated
this point, about being a nation of laws, albeit in a different context.

Federal law, it said, "began with a Constitution on four parchment pages, followed by a
Bill of Rights on one more. But the Constitution begat Congress, and Congress begat
statutes-lots and lots of statutes. The current version of them fills 45,000 pages of the
United States Code." (Some of those, you are charged with.) "Those statutes begat
hundreds of administrative agencies, and many of those agencies begat regulations . . . . As
the number of statutes and regulations has multiplied . . . , so has decisional law. Supreme
Court decisions fl/-.l573 volumes of the ofiicial United States Reports, while federal court of
appeals decisions fill2,000 or so volumes of the Federal Reporter series."

United States v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep't of Corr., 778 F.3d 1223, 1225 (llth Cir. 2015) (citations
omitted).

Our nation, our democrary, is governed by these laws. When there is a dispute, the courts
decide it.
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This case isn't just about breaking the law. We see those cases everyday. This case is
different. It is more. It is about challenging the very existence of the law. It is about a
challenge to the very institution responsible for making the law, while it was in the process
of carrying out its lawful duty. They were carryingout a duty that their oath required them
to tuIfill.

That very congress has established that one of the violations of law that you are charged
with is so serious that the Court must presume you are a danger to the community when
you are charged with violattngit.

When the Court considers then the seriousness of the charges against you and the weight
of the evidence, there is only one conclusion. You are a danger to the community and
must be detained.

Part IV - Directions Regarding Detention

The defendant is remanded to the custody of the Attorney General or to the Attorney General's designated representative
for confinement in a corrections facility separate, to the extent practicable, from persons awaiting or serving sentences or
being held in custody pending appeal. The defendant must be afforded a reasonable opporfunity for private consultation
with defense counsel. On order of a court of the United States or on request of an attorney for the Government, the person
in charge of the corrections facility must deliver the defendant to a United States Marshal for the purpose of an appearance
in connection with a court proceeding.

Date:
February 22,2021

PHILIP R. LAI,IMENS
United States Magistrate Judge
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